THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin S. Dukes, III, Special Circuit Court Judge for Beaufort County

Case No. 2012-213239

Town of Hilton Head Island,.....Respondent,

v.

Kigre, Inc.,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thomas C. Taylor
Post Office Box 5550
Hilton Head Island, SC 29938
(843) 785- 5050
Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED

MAY 20 2013

SC COURT OF APPEALS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THE BUSINESS LICENSE FEE ORDINANCE VIOLATED THE DORMANT COMMERCE CLAUSE?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THE BUSINESS LICENSE FEE ORDINANCE VIOLATED THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSES OF THE FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONS?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THE TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND FAILED TO FOLLOW ITS OWN ORDINANCE?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO HOLD THAT KIGRE HAD PAID ALL THAT IT WAS LIABLE FOR PAYING UNDER THE EXPRESS TERMS OF THE BUSINESS LICENSE FEE ORDINANCE?
5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THE INCLUSION OF A PROVISION IN THE ORDINANCE ALLOWING RECOVERY OF ATTORNEYS FEES BY THE TOWN WITHOUT A SIMILAR PROVISION ALLOWING FOR RECOVERY OF ATTORNEYS FEES BY A DEFENDANT, IS A DENIAL OF THE EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW?
6. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THE TOWN ORDINANCE WAS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AND THEREFORE UNENFORCEABLE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 29, 2006, the Town of Hilton Head Island brought this action against Kigre, Inc., seeking an accounting as to Kigre's gross income for the years 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005, and further seeking an award of damages and late fees for "business license fees" that had allegedly not been paid, totaling \$41,645.81. The Town also sought a Declaratory Judgment that Kigre was "not entitled to any alleged Federal exemption shielding Kigre from paying the Town's business license fee." Kigre filed an

Answer and Counterclaim alleging that the Town's attempts to collect business license fees on Kigre's sales made outside of the state of South Carolina was violative of the Dormant Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution, raised other defenses and sought its own Declaratory Judgment that the ordinance was unconstitutional and was not being applied as enacted. A Reply was timely filed by the Town on October 10, 2006. Eleven months later, on August 30, 2007, based upon the Town's recognition that it had failed to provide Kigre with a required opportunity to appeal to the town council, the Town filed a Motion to Dismiss the entire action. That Motion was never argued nor ruled upon.

Due to health reasons, Kigre's original attorney withdrew from the case in 2009, and new counsel entered the case and filed an Amended Answer and Counterclaim on September 2, 2009, raising additional defenses and counterclaims.

The case was tried non-jury by Master In Equity and Special Circuit Judge Marvin H. Dukes, III, on December 8-9, 2010, and April 27, 2011. Judge Dukes filed his initial Order Ending Case on February 7, 2012, and Kigre filed its Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment on February 16, 2012, and Judge Dukes heard argument on the Motion on May 17, 2012. On September 20, 2012, Judge Dukes filed his Amended Order Ending Case. On October 16, 2012, Kigre filed its Notice of Appeal on the Town.

FACTS

Kigre, Inc. is a high tech manufacturer of laser components and laser glass, which

products are then shipped out-of-state and primarily used in the later manufacture of laser range finders and research systems for the military. (R. pp. 83-84) It is a family owned business, which opened on Hilton Head in 1986. (R. p. 84, line 5) Kigre's only manufacturing facility and principal place of business is in Hilton Head, and Kigre pays property and personal property taxes on it manufacturing facility to the Town of Hilton Head and Beaufort County. (R. pp. 83-85) During the time period here at issue, 2002-2006, Kigre sold more than 99.5 percent of the laser components and laser glass it manufactured on a yearly basis to out-of-state purchasers through interstate commerce. (R. p. 130, lines 10-23) The Town does not dispute that percentage of out-of-state sales. (R. pp. 117, line 22-118, line 10)

The Town of Hilton Head Island enacted a Business License Ordinance in 1983, known as Ordinance 10-1-10 et. seq. (R. p. 153) The salient portions of the Ordinance as it existed in 2006 relating directly to this appeal are:

Section 10-1-10. License Required.

Every person engaged or intending to engage in any calling, business, occupation or profession listed in the rate classification index portion of this chapter, in whole or in part, within the limits of the town, is required to pay an annual license as hereinafter provided.

Section 10-1-20. Definitions.

(2) Classification: That division of businesses by major groups subject to the same license rate, as determined by a calculated index of ability to pay based on national averages, benefits, equalization of tax burden, relationship of services, or other basis deemed appropriate by the town council.

(3) Gross income: The total revenue of a business, received or accrued, for one fiscal year collected or to be collected by reason of the conduct of business within the town, excepting therefrom income from

business done wholly outside of the town on which a license tax is paid to some other municipality or a county and fully reported to the town. Gross income from interstate commerce shall be included in the gross income for every business subject to a business license fee. The gross income for business license purposes shall conform to the gross income reported to the Internal Revenue Service, the South Carolina Department of Revenue and Taxation, or the South Carolina Insurance Commission.

Section 10-1-30. Purpose and duration.

The business license levied by this chapter is for the purpose of providing such regulation as may be required by the businesses subject thereto and for the purpose of raising revenue for the general fund through a privilege fee....

Section 10-1-60. Deductions and exemptions.

No deductions from gross income shall be made except from income from business done wholly outside of the town on which a license tax is paid to some other municipality or a county, or income which cannot be taxed pursuant to state law. The applicant shall have the burden to establish the right to a deduction by satisfactory records and proof... The license inspector shall determine the appropriate classification for each business. No person shall be exempt from this chapter by reason of the payment of any other tax, unless exempted by state law, and no person shall be relieved of the liability for the payment of any other tax by reason of the application of this chapter.

Section 10-1-100. Inspections and audits.

For the purposes of enforcing the provisions of this chapter the license inspector or other authorized agent of the town is empowered to enter upon the premises of any person subject to this chapter to make inspections, examine and audit books and records, and it shall be unlawful for any person to fail or refuse to make available the necessary books and records during normal business hours with twenty four (24) hours' prior written notice. (Remainder of Section 10-1-100 omitted for brevity, but is set forth in Plaintiff's Exhibit 12, R. p. 155.)

Section 10-1-110. Assessments.

When any person shall have failed to obtain a business license or to furnish the information required by this chapter or the license inspector, the license inspector shall proceed to examine the records of the business or other available records as may be appropriate and to conduct investigations and statistical surveys as he may deem appropriate to assess a license tax and penalties as provided herein. A notice of assessment shall be served by

certified mail and an application for adjustment of the assessment may be made to the license inspector with five (5) days after the notice is mailed or the assessment will become final. The license inspector shall establish by regulation the procedure for hearing an application for adjustment of assessment and issuing a notice of final assessment. A final assessment may be appealed to town council only by payment in full of the assessment under protest within five (5) days and filing of written notice of appeal within ten (10) days after payment pursuant to provisions of this chapter relating to appeals to town council.

Section 10-1-160. Appeals to town council.

(a) Any person aggrieved by a final assessment or a denial of a business license by the license inspector may appeal the decision to town council by written request stating the reasons therefor filed with the town clerk within ten (10) days after the payment of the assessment under protest or notice of denial is received.

(b) An appeal or a hearing on revocation shall be held by town council with thirty (30) days after receipt of a request for appeal or service of a notice of suspension at a regular or special meeting of which the applicant or licensee has been given written notice. At the hearing all parties shall have the right to be represented by counsel, to present testimony and evidence and to cross examine witnesses. The proceedings shall be recorded and transcribed at the expense of the party so requesting. The rules of evidence and procedure prescribed by the town council shall govern the hearing. Town council shall by majority vote of members present render a written decision based on findings of fact and the application of the standards herein which shall be served upon all parties or their representatives and shall be final unless appealed to a court of competent jurisdiction with ten (10) days after service.

Section 10-1-190. Classification rates, schedules.

The license fee for each class of business shall be computed in accordance with the following rates and with the Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) Manual 1987, except in cases of conflict between the provisions of the SIC and Town Code, the Town Code provisions shall prevail. (Classifications omitted for brevity, but are set forth in Plaintiff's Exhibit 12, R. pp. 164-190.)

Section 10-1-200 Local Industry License.

Any person who desires to exclusively engage in the business of offering for public sale at designated locations, as determined by the town manager, farm and garden products or flowers grown on the property of such

person, or flower arrangements, arts or crafts produced in the home of such person, or seafood caught by such person, shall secure from the town an annual business license, but shall be exempt from the payment of a business license fee.

From the time Kigre opened its manufacturing operation in 1986 until 2004, Kigre had annually submitted a business license fee application to the Town comporting with the time requirements of the ordinance, and paid the minimum fee due, which was \$62.50 annually. (R. p. 89) (Jeffrey Myers, Kigre's Vice President and Chief Operating Officer) (R. p. 127) See Defendant's Exhibit 10, the Kigre business license application from 1994, which is the earliest dated application the Town produced under subpoena. (R. p. 151)

Mr. Myers paid the minimum \$62.50 because he took the position that the gross income of Kigre, which was 99.5 percent made up of interstate and international sales, was not subject to a "sales tax" being imposed by the town. (R. p. 89, line 25 – p. 90, line 4) The Town accepted the minimum annual payments from Kigre for approximately 18 years, until 2004, when Mr. Myers received a letter from the town advising him that Kigre had been "randomly selected" for a verification of gross income for the years 2001-2003. See Plaintiff's Exhibit 5. (R. p. 146) That letter, from Deputy Finance Director Steven Markiw, requested that Kigre send to the Town copies of Kigre's 2001, 2002 and 2003 Federal Income Tax Returns. In reply, Mr. Myers sent Markiw an email stating "As we (Kigre) do not have any revenue generated from sales inside the state of South Carolina, all of our revenue is exempted from the sales tax under the US Federal laws." See Plaintiff's Exhibit 6. (R. p. 147)

The Town responded two weeks later, on April 6, 2004, telling Kigre that the

business license fee was not a sales tax, but a “privilege of doing business” excise tax, citing the South Carolina Municipal Association’s Business License Handbook, and again requested that that Kigre turn over the tax returns. “Should you choose not to comply with the request the Town will have no choice but to begin proceedings to suspend your license. “ See Plaintiff’s Exhibit 7. (R. p. 148)

Two days later, on April 8, 2004, Mr. Myers advised Mr. Markiw by email that “[i]f we are going to go through with this, let’s do it according to the law.” Referring to Markiw’s threat to “begin proceedings to suspend your license”, Myers correctly noted that “the town has no legal authority to take such actions at this time:”

There is nothing in the Town Code that requires Kigre to submit anything to the Town by April 23, 2004 (Section 10-1-100). The Town may request an audit on 24 hours notice. To date, the Town has not scheduled any appointment to review our records. We will be glad to have a Town representative visit our facility. We will allow the Town inspector to examine any pertinent documents requested. In the Town’s discretion, it may; then assess additional taxes (Please note that even the ordinances call it a “License Tax”). This will be paid immediately under protest. At that time we will make a written appeal to the Town Council. Town Council is then required to hear the appeal within with 30 days in an open meeting. During this appeal, we intend to give a complete defense. This will include relevant case law and the statements made by an expert at the SC Dept of Revenue that the code as written will be struck down in Federal Court. See Plaintiff’s Exhibit 9. (R. p. 150)

After Mr. Myer’s email of April 8, 2004 quoted above, Kigre heard nothing further from the Town in 2004. (R. p. 100, lines 16 – 22) In 2005, Kigre submitted its business license fee application, paying the minimum again, and was issued a business license by the Town. See Plaintiff’s Exhibit 10. (R. p. 151)

Then, 16 months later, in August 2005, Mr. Markiw wrote another letter to Kigre

advising that Kigre had “been selected for a verification of gross income for the years 2002, 2003 and 2004” and requested copies of Kigre’s 2001, 2002 and 2003 Federal Income Tax returns be sent the town in 14 days. See Plaintiff’s Exhibit 11. (R. p. 152) Mr. Myers again told them that they did not have the authority to demand Kigre produce income tax returns to “float around town hall.” Instead, he invited them to audit his records and when the town agreed, Mr. Myers scheduled the day “within a week or so.” (R. p. 128, lines 13 -24) The Town then sent out an auditor and a town employee in September 2005 to review Kigre’s records, and Mr. Myers provided them with everything they asked to see. (R. p. 102, line 4) The Town then went quiet again. (R. p. 102, lines 20 - 23) The “results” of the Town audit were not given to Kigre until five years later, approximately one month prior to trial of this action. (R. p. 102, lines 20 -23) What was given to Kigre was a lawsuit.

I heard nothing else from the town until they filed suit. I was never given an assessment, any notification of assessment, any dollar amount, or anything. I think it was some months later, six months or so, that they came in and just filed suit. (Testimony of Myers, R. p. 129, lines 4 – 9) See original Complaint dated April 3, 2006. (R. p. 32)

Kigre then hired G. Richardson Wieters to defend the corporation and he filed an Answer and Counterclaim dated August 17, 2006. (R. p. 37) Thereafter, following negotiations between counsel for both sides, it was mutually agreed that Kigre would be given the opportunity to pay the total amount demanded in the Complaint (\$41,645.81)(the amount allegedly derived from the “audit”) under protest and pursuant to Business License Ordinance Section 10-1-160, be given the opportunity to present its

appeal to Town Council. (R. p. 131, lines 22 – 25, - p. 132, lines 2 – 8) Kigre tendered the \$41,645.81 check to the Town, along with an appeal letter from Mr. Wieters. See the Affidavit of Town Deputy Director of Finance Steven Markiw filed with the Court on or about August 30, 2007, with the Plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss the action (marked as Defendant's Exhibit 3 (R. p. 291)), which noted that Kigre paid the \$41,645.81 to the Town under protest on November 13, 2006 and requested a hearing pursuant to Section 10-1-160 on the same day. However, citing the requirement that an appeal hearing be held within 30 days, Mr. Markiw states on oath that "A hearing on Kigre, Inc's business license fee liability was not held within thirty (30) days as required by Section 10-1-160 of the Ordinances of the Town of Hilton Head Island. As a result, the Town of Hilton Head Island refunded the entire \$41,645.81 of business license fees and penalties Kigre, Inc. paid under protest from the 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005 tax periods on February 2, 2007." (See Paragraph 6 of Markiw Affidavit, (R. p. 292)). (See also the Wieters' letter of appeal marked as Defendant's Exhibit 4 (R. p. 293) and the Town's refund check, Defendant's Exhibit 5 (R. p. 298))

Mr. Markiw further stated on oath that as of August 24, 2007, Kigre "does not owe any business license fees or penalties for the 2002, 2003, 2004, or 2005 tax periods," Kigre's business license fee periods were "currently" not being audited and "[t]here are no outstanding business license fee assessments against Kigre, Inc." as of August 24, 2007. (See Paragraphs 7, 9 and 10 of Defendant's Exhibit 3 (R. p. 292))

The Markiw Affidavit quoted above was attached to the Plaintiff's Motion to

Dismiss dated August 30, 2007, wherein the Plaintiff Town of Hilton Head Island requested the Court dismiss its Complaint and Kigre's Counterclaims because the Town acknowledged waiving its right to seek the \$41,645.81. (R. p. 49) Notwithstanding that Motion and the Markiw affidavit, the Town moved forward in December 2010 at trial in an attempt to recover that money. However, Judge Dukes ruled that the Town "waived the right to collect on the \$41,645.81" and the Town having failed to appeal from that finding against it, the holding of waiver as to any claims for business license fees relating to 2002, 2003, 2004 or 2005, is the law of the case. (See Amended Order Ending Case (R. p. 31))

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal involves both legal and equitable causes of action. When both legal and equitable causes of action are maintained in one suit, each must be analyzed separately according to its own identity as legal or equitable. Rushing v. McKinney, 370 S.C 280, 633 S.E2d 917 (2006). In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the Master will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the Master's findings. Townes Assocs. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). In an action in equity, tried by the Master alone, without a reference (as here), the appellate court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its views of the preponderance of the evidence. Id.

ARGUMENTS

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THE BUSINESS LICENSE FEE ORDINANCE VIOLATED THE DORMANT COMMERCE CLAUSE.

The Town Ordinance, specifically Section 10-1-20, includes gross income from interstate commerce sales in the computation of the business license fee due the Town: “Gross income from interstate commerce shall be included in the gross income for every business subject to a business license fee.” Kigre’s manufacturing sales from 2002-2006 were over 99.5 percent made in states beyond South Carolina and internationally. To acknowledge the less than one half of one percent of sales made in the jurisdiction of the Town or the State of South Carolina, Kigre has always agreed to pay the minimum business fee license computed by the Ordinance, and the Town does not contend that the minimum fee paid does not comport with those local sales.

The Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution provides that Congress has the power to regulate commerce among the several states. U.S. Const., Art. I, Section 8, cl. 3. However, the Commerce Clause is more than an affirmative grant of power; it has a negative sweep as well. Travelscape, LLC v. South Carolina Department of Revenue, 391 S.C. 89, 705 S.E.2d 28 (2012), *citing* Quill Corp. v. North Dakota, 504 U.S. 298, 309, 112 S.Ct. 1904, 1911, 119 L.Ed.2d 91 (1992). Even in the absence of Congressional regulation, the negative implications of the Commerce Clause, often referred to as the “Dormant Commerce Clause,” prohibit state action that unduly burdens

interstate commerce. Travelscape, id. at 104, *citing* General Motors Corp. v. Tracy, 519 U.S. 278, 287, 117 S.Ct. 811, 818, 136 L.Ed.2d 761 (1997). A state tax withstands a Dormant Commerce Clause challenge so long as the tax:

1. Is applied to an activity with a substantial nexus with the taxing state;
2. Is fairly apportioned;
3. Does not discriminate against interstate commerce, and,
4. Is fairly related to the services provided by the state.

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