THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Marvin H. Dukes, III Special Circuit Court Judge for Beaufort County

Case No. 2012-213239

Town of Hilton Head Island, Respondent

v.

Kigre, Inc.....Appellant

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

RECEIVED

OCT 14 2013

SC Court of Appeals

Gregory M. Alford
Alford Law Firm, LLC
P.O. Drawer 8008
Hilton Head Island, SC 29938
(843) 842-5500
Attorney for Respondent

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

Appellant gives no rational argument nor any supporting evidence or case law which supports its claims that Respondent's business license system is illegal, unconstitutional or invalid. Nor does he give any legitimate argument or evidence to support his failure to pay his business license fees.

E. **Equal Protection**: Appellant seeks to attack the constitutionality of the business license fee and classifications. Addressing a similar constitutional attack on a business license fee and the classifications used, the Court of Appeals in City of Beaufort v. Holcombe, 369 S.C. 643, 632 S.E.2d 894 (Ct. App. 2006), determined that classifications in the city's license fee ordinance had a "rational and reasonable basis" and stated:

Courts generally analyze equal protection challenges under one of three standards: (1) rational basis; (2) intermediate scrutiny; or, (3) strict scrutiny.

If the classification does not implicate a suspect class or abridge a fundamental right, the rational basis test is used. Inherently suspect classifications include those based on factors “such as race, religion, or alienage.

In this instance, we agree with the circuit court's determination that “landlords do not constitute a ‘suspect’ class, [so] the ‘rational basis’ test is used.” “To satisfy the equal protection clause, a classification must (1) bear a reasonable relation to the legislative purpose sought to be achieved, (2) members of the class must be treated alike under similar circumstances, and (3) the classification must rest on some rational basis.

Equal Protection Clauses are subject to a wide scope of discretion and legislative enactments are to be avoided only when they are without any reasonable basis. Only “irrational and unjustified classifications” are barred.

If a classification is reasonably related to a proper legislative purpose and the members of each class are treated equally, any challenge under the Equal Protection clause fails. Eli Witt Company v. City of West Columbia, 309 S.C. 555, 425 S.E.2d 16 (1992), citing Robinson v. Richland County Council, 293 S.C. 27, 358 S.E.2d 392 (1987). An ordinance will only be found to violate the Equal Protection clause if it is arbitrary and there is no conceivable hypothesis to support the classification. Medlock v. S.C. State Family Farm Dev. Auth., 279 S.C. 316, 306 S.E.2d 605 (1983).

Respondent's classification system utilizes the Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) Manual 1987, a classification system with a rational and reasonable basis. All businesses in the same classification are treated the same. A review of the Table in Section 10-1-190 shows categories of business types falling within a given rate class, and clearly shows the reasonableness of the classifications. Any reasonable basis for the different classification will satisfy the requirements of the equal protection clause. See Medlock, *supra*.

The license fee system is also reasonably related to a proper legislative purpose as stated in Section 10-1-30 of the Town's Municipal Code.⁶

The Court of Appeals in City of Beaufort, *supra*, further stated:

A municipal ordinance is a legislative enactment and is presumed to be constitutional. The burden is upon the taxpayer **to prove unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt. The burden requires the attacker to negate every conceivable basis that might support it.** The reasonableness of an ordinance is a question of law for the court to decide unless there is a controversy about the facts of the case, which must be decided by a jury. (emphasis added).

Appellant presents arguments regarding unequal enforcement of the license fee as rising to the level of an Equal Protection Clause violation. Appellant argues that some businesses in Respondent do not pay any business license fees while it must pay the same and no rational basis exists for this distinction and that Respondent's enforcement of its Ordinance is arbitrary and capricious. Section 10-1-200 of Respondent's Municipal Code is captioned as "local industry license." The ordinance exempts any person who exclusively engages in the business of offering for public sale at designated locations farm and garden products, or flowers grown on the property of such person, or flower arrangements, arts or crafts produced in the home of such person, or seafood caught by such person from payment of the business license fee.

Respondent is not prohibited from taxing different businesses at different rates. See Thompson Newspapers, Inc. v. City of Florence, 287 S.C. 305, 338 S.E.2d 324 (1985) (no equal protection violation where daily newspapers charged higher rate than other businesses); Eli Witt, *supra*, (no equal protection violation where business was taxed on untaxed income earned outside of the municipality). Any reasonable basis for the different classification will satisfy the

⁶ The business license levied by this chapter is for the purpose of providing such regulation as may be required by the businesses subject thereto and for the purpose of raising revenue for the general fund through a privilege fee. Each license shall be issued for one (1) calendar year and shall expire on December 31st. The provisions of this chapter and the rates herein shall remain in effect from year to year until amended by council.

requirements of the equal protection clause. See Medlock, *supra*. By way of example, the local industry license could be viewed as enacted to promote tourism. The exemption for local industry encourages the development of the designated areas as tourist destinations. The Appellant is not in the same market as the local producers and is not engaged in a substantially similar business.

For the enforcement of the Ordinance to be declared arbitrary and capricious, Appellant must prove that the arbitrary enforcement was **deliberate** for it to have violated any Equal Protection Clauses.

“One seeking to show discriminatory enforcement in violation of the Equal Protection Clause must demonstrate arbitrary and purposeful discrimination in the administration of the law being enforced. [E]ven assuming [a governmental entity] is not enforcing [an] ordinance equally, the fact that there is some unequal treatment does not necessarily rise to the level of a constitutional equal protection violation.” Town of Iva ex rel. Zoning Administrator v. Holley, 374 S.C. 537, 649 S.E.2d 108 (S.C. App.2007)

“Equal protection is satisfied if 1) the classification bears a reasonable relation to the legislative purpose sought to be effected; 2) the members of the class are treated alike under similar circumstances and conditions; and 3) the classification rests on some reasonable basis. Skyscraper Corp. v. County of Newberry, 323 S.C. 412, 475, S.E.2d 764 (1996); Town of Hilton Head Island v. Fine Liquors, Ltd., 302 S.C. 550, 397 S.E.2d 662 (1990).

“The fact that the classification may result in some inequity does not render it unconstitutional.” Davis v. County of Greenville, 313 S.C. 459, 465, 443 S.E.2d 383, 386 (1994).

“To prove that a statute has been administered or enforced discriminatorily, more must be shown than the fact that a benefit was denied to one person while conferred on another. A violation is established only if the plaintiff can prove that the state *intended* to discriminate.” Sylvia Dev. Corp. v. Calvert County, Md., 48 F.3d 810, 819 (4th Cir. 1995) (internal citations omitted) “If disparate treatment alone were sufficient to warrant a constitutional remedy, then every blunder by a local authority, in which the authority erroneously or mistakenly treats an individual differently than it treats another who is similarly situated, would rise to the level of a federal constitutional claim.” Sylvia *supra*.

II ARGUMENT REGARDING ATTORNEYS FEES NOT PRESERVED FOR REVIEW

Appellant seeks to enter into the Record arguments that were never presented to the trial court at the trial of this case. While Appellant did make a passing reference to this argument in its Motion to Reconsider and in its Answer and Counterclaims, the constitutionality of the attorney's fees provisions was never argued in its Summary Judgment Motion, any supporting memoranda or at trial and accordingly not properly preserved for review. "Error preservation principles are intended to enable the trial court to rule after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi, 358 S.C. 78, 103, 594 S.E.2d 485, 498 (Ct. App. 2004). "The rationale for the rule is that until the trial court considers the matter and makes a ruling, an appellate court is unable to find error." *Id.* "Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review." Queen's Grant II Horizontal Property Regime v. Greenwood Development Corp., 628 S.E.2d 902, 368 S.C. 342 (S.C. App. 2006).

The trial court in this matter was not given the relevant facts, case law and arguments either for or against Appellant's theory that the attorney's fee provision of the Ordinance is unconstitutional. Appellant had the opportunity to present these arguments prior to the Court's filing of the Order Ending Case on February 7, 2012. Respondents, at the direction of the Court prepared a proposed Order Ending Case and circulated the same to Appellant for review and comment. Appellant responded via letter dated January 30, 2012 with requests for changes to be made to the Order, some of which Respondent agreed to. See January 30, 2012 letter. Nowhere in this letter does it request the addition of any language regarding the attorney's fee provision. Appellant filed its Rule 59 Motion on February 16, 2012, again making a passing reference to the attorney's fee provision wherein Appellant stated

“e. In order to insure that all of Kigre’s positions are properly preserved for appeal, Kigre moves this Court to alter or amend the Judgment to address the following claims:

7. The fact the Ordinance allows the recovery of attorneys fees by the Town for prosecution of an action to collect, but does not provide for the recovery of attorneys fees by a business that defends its actions in refusing to pay business license fees not properly due and payable, denies the equal protection of the law to the defending business.” See Appellant’s Rule 59 Motion

Nowhere in Appellant’s Motion are cited any relevant case law, arguments or facts to support its contentions. Even at the hearing addressing Appellant’s Rule 59 Motion, Appellant failed to argue or even broach the validity of the attorney’s fee provision to the Court.

Constitutional arguments are no exception to the preservation rules, and if not raised to the trial court, the issues are deemed waived on appeal. Glover v. County of Charleston, 361 S.C. 634, 606 S.E.2d 773 (2004) overruled on other grounds by Byrd v. City of Hartsville, 365 S.C. 650, 620 S.E.2d 76 (2005); *see also* Grant v. S.C. Coastal Council, 319 S.C. 348, 461 S.E.2d 388 (1995) (holding that a due process claim raised for the first time on appeal was not preserved); Merriman v. Minter, 298 S.C. 110, 378 S.E.2d 441 (1989) (refusing to consider an equal protection challenge to a statute on appeal where it was not raised to the trial court). “Nonetheless, the issue must be sufficiently clear to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the judge.” Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 719 S.E.2d 640 (S.C. 2011) *citing* Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) *see also* S.C. Dep’t of Transp. V. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 641 S.E.2d 903 (2007)

This attempt to introduce new arguments is in clear violation of Rule 242(d)(1) SCACR and Rules 210(c) and (h) SCACR as well as the long supported rulings of our Courts. To allow Appellant to now, at this late stage of this action, enter new arguments, would be highly prejudicial to Respondent and completely contradict the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules

and substantial supporting case law. Respondent respectfully requests the Court disregard or strike the Appellant's entire argument number 5.

Should this Honorable Court determine that this issue is indeed preserved for review, Respondent states that Appellant's arguments regarding the constitutionality of the attorney's fees provision in Sec. 10-1-120 of the Town of Hilton Head Island's Municipal Code is misplaced.

Appellant relies on Bradley v. Hullander, 277 S.C. 327, 287 S.E.2d 140 (1982) stating that its ruling provided that "a court must determine whether the municipal classification is rationally related to the object of the statute" to determine its constitutionality. However, Appellant misunderstands the ruling of Bradley. Bradley specifically held "the costs and attorneys fees provisions of §35-1-1490(2) (1976 Code) bear a reasonable relation to the legitimate policy objectives of the State of South Carolina and do not violate the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. and S.C. Constitutions." Appellant has provided no argument that the Town's Ordinance, which provides for the collection of attorney's fees, is not "reasonably related to the legitimate policy objectives" of the Town. Quite contrarily, the collection of attorneys fees is directly related to the policy goal of the Ordinance. This Ordinance provides a means to collect unpaid business license fees from business owners who either willfully or not did not remit the same to the Town. "Requiring the unsuccessful defendant to pay the plaintiff's attorney's fees is a legitimate tool in enforcing the underlying public policy of the statute" Bradley, supra.

Appellant also relies on the Court's ruling in Southeastern Home Building & Refurbishing, Inc. 325 S.C. 602, 325 S.E.2d 328 (1985) which declared the attorney fee

provision in the Mechanic's Lien Code unconstitutional. However, Taylor v. Medenica, 331 S.C. 575, 503 S.E.2d 458 (1998) subsequently clarified the Southeastern ruling and stated:

“The Court noted, ‘indeed, authorizing fee awards to prevailing defendants, as well as plaintiffs, would not chill the laborer’s right to seek relief in court.’ Id. at 604 325 S.E.2d at 329

On other occasions, however, the Court has upheld the statutory allowance of attorney’s fees to prevailing plaintiffs but not to prevailing defendants. See Bradley v. Hullander, 277 S.C 327, 287 S.E.2d 140 (1982)(securities fraud cases); Coker v. Pilot Life Ins. Co., 265 S.C. 260, 217 S.E.2d 784 (1975) (bad faith denial of insurance claims); see also Missouri, Kansas & Texas Railroad Co. of Texas v. Cade, 233 U.S. 642, 34 S.Ct. 678, 58 L.Ed. 1135 (1914) (statute designed to promote prompt payment of small claims providing recovery of attorney’s fees to plaintiffs but not defendants did not violate 14th Amendment)...

...Allowing plaintiffs who successfully pursue an action under the UTPA to recover their attorney’s fees encourages individuals to pursue litigation to protect the public interest. Similarly, requiring unsuccessful defendants to pay the plaintiff’s attorney’s fee discourages tradesmen from engaging in unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts in the conduct of trade or commerce...”

This same reasoning can and should be applied in the instant case. The Town’s Ordinance was established “for the purpose of providing such regulation as may be required by the businesses subject thereto and for the purpose of raising revenue for the general fund through a privilege fee.” Sec. 10-1-30 Town of Hilton Head Municipal Code. The provision allowing an award of “costs for collection” are directly related to the Town’s goal and enforcement of its public policy and accordingly not in violation of any equal protection laws.

III THE COURT’S RULING ON APPELLANTS’ LIABILITIES FOR PAYMENTS WAS CORRECT.

Respondent audited Appellant's business license fee liability for the 2002, 2003, 2004, and 2005 license periods, and as a result, assessed Appellant \$41,645.81 for fees and penalties. (R. p. 291, ¶ 3). The Appellant paid the amount under protest. (R. p. 291, ¶ 4-5). Sections 10-1-

150 and 160 of the Town's Municipal Code affords the Appellant a hearing before Town Council.⁷

Because Respondent failed to provide the Appellant with a hearing on its appeal of the assessment, the funds were refunded to Appellant on or about February 2, 2007 (R. p. 291, ¶ 6) and Respondent conceded that it had waived its right to collect the \$41,645.81 in fees and penalties. The waiver of the right to collect these penalties and fees was based on the technical violation of the Ordinance by Respondent's failure to hold the appeal hearing. It did not in fact eliminate any claim to future business license fees or enforcement of those fees.

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